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One of the most potent weapons in the arsenal of a monopolist seeking
to suppress competitors is that of litigation or the threat of litigation.'
Recently, the Supreme Court2 and many lower courts have addressed
themselves to this subject making timely our attempt to collect, in one
place, all of the significant decisions relating to the use of litigation as an
alleged vehicle by which competition is eliminated or monopoly power
acquired or maintained.
In the succeeding sections we shall deal with the devastating impact
litigation can have on a business enterprise, the development of this area
of the law, first through the Supreme Court and then through the lower
courts; the standards of proof necessary to prove that litigation was in fact
utilized as an integral part of a scheme to monopolize; the continuing
erosion of the so-called Noerr-Penington doctrine;' and finally, those cases
that have dealt with the kinds of damages that may be awarded in the
event liability is found to exist.
We do not propose here to discuss the elements of a section 2 Sherman
Act offense, i.e., monopolization or attempt to monopolize.' Essentially, we
focus our attention upon the continuing attempt by the courts to reconcile
and resolve two competing public policies: (1) the public policy favoring
free and unrestricted access to the courts so that litigants may adjudicate
* Partner in Blecher, Collins and Hoecker, Los Angeles, California. University of Southern California (LL.B., 1955). Member of the State Bar of California.
** Associate of Blecher, Collins and Hoecker, Los Angeles, California. University of Arizona (A.B., 1961; J.D., 1964). Member of the State Bar of California.
1. See Givens, Litigation as a Means of Economic Competition, 27 RECORD OF THE ASSOcIATION OF THE BAR OF THE CTY OF NEW YORK 572 (1972).
2. See, e.g., United States v. Singer Mfg. Co., 374 U.S. 174 (1963); California Motor
Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508 (1972); Otter Tail Power Co. v. United
States, 410 U.S. 366 (1973).
3. Eastern R. R. Presidents' Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc., 365 U.S. 127 (1961);
Woods Exploration & Products Co. v. Aluminum Co. of America, 438 F.2d 1286 (5th Cir.
1971), revg 284 F. Supp. 582 (S.D. Tex. 1968), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 1047 (1972); Israel v.
Baxter Laboratories, Ltd., 466 F.2d 272 (D.C. Cir. 1972); Sacramento Coca-Cola Bottling Co.
v. Chauffeur's Local 150, 440 F.2d 1096 (9th Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 826 (1972); Sun
Valley Disposal Co. v. Silver State Disposal Co., 420 F.2d 341 (9th Cir. 1969); Aloha Airlines,
Inc. v. Hawaiian Airlines, Inc., 349 F. Supp. 1064 (D. Hawaii 1972); Semke v. Enid Auto.
Dealers Ass'n, 456 F.2d 1361 (10th Cir. 1972); Harman v. Valley Nat'l Bank, 339 F.2d 564
(9th Cir. 1964).
4. See the extensive discussion of this subject in Hawk, Attempts to Monopolize-Specific
Intent as Antitrust's Ghost in the Machine, 58 CORNELL L. REv. 1121 (1973).
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honest disputes; and (2) the countervailing public interest favoring free
and unfettered competition, unhampered by lawsuits used as deliberate
weapons of business aggression to achieve an unfair competitive advantage
in the marketplace.

I.

THE DEVASTATING IMPACT OF LITIGATION UPON A SMALL BUSINESS

The Supreme Court has recognized that the pendency of a trademark,
unfair competition, patent infringement or other lawsuit places a cloud
over a small business which portends financial doom for the company
sued.' A competitor seeking to utilize litigation as a weapon to stifle its
competition hopes to achieve any number of the following goals:
1. Cause his competitor to incur enormous legal expenses in
defending the suit, thus diverting needed funds from marketing,
sales, promotion, and research and development efforts;
2. Tie up the managerial resources of the company and cause
its executives to spend wasted time in preparing and defending the
lawsuit, as well as diverting attention from the tasks of running the
company;
3. Diverting customers away from the defendant, hopefully to
the plaintiff, who are either afraid of being sued themselves, e.g.,
for contributory patent infringement, or are concerned that the
company being sued will not be able to fulfill orders for products
or will not survive as a viable entity long enough to warrant exerting efforts in developing a market for the sued company's products;
and
4. Elimination of the sued entity from the marketplace completely, thus destroying its viability as a functioning competitor.
As long ago as 1942, Judge Jerome Frank observed, in his concurring
opinion in Picard v. United Aircraft Corp.7 that
the expense of defending a patent suit is often staggering to the small
businessman. And there is reason to believe that, unable, for that reason,
to defend a threatened patent suit, many persons capitulate to a wellfinanced patentee without litigating; the result is that many patents,
which are 'spurious' - i.e., would probably not stand up in court, if contested - confer, in actual fact, patent monopolies which are as effective,
for all practical purposes, as if they had been judicially held valid. The
actual enjoyment of a patent monopoly - which, of course, has its effect
on the public - may, it seems, often depend on the fact that the patent is
5.

See the recommendations of the Department of Justice with respect to provisions

against abuses in the patent field in FINAL REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE TEMPORARY

NATIONAL ECONOMIC COMMITTEE, S. Doc. No. 35, 77th Cong., 1st Sess., Exhibit No. 2734, p.
249 (1941).
6. See Blonder-Tongue Laboratories, Inc. v. University of Illinois Foundation, 402 U.S.
313, 334-44 (1971); Otter Tail Power Co. v. United States, 410 U.S. 366 (1973).
7. 128 F.2d 632, 641 (2d Cir. 1942) (concurring opinion).
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owned by a wealthy concern and that alleged infringers lacked funds to
defend themselves.
In Lear, Inc. v. Adkins,8 the Court observed that one of the benefits
accruing to a businessman accepting a license from a patentee who was
threatening him with a suit was avoidance of "the necessity of defending
an expensive infringement action during the period when he may be least
able to afford one."
Recently, the Supreme Court discussed the competitive disadvantage
imposed upon a defendant under the cloud of a patent infringement action
in Blonder-Tongue Laboratories,Inc. v. University of Illinois Foundation:'
The alleged infringer - operating as he must against the presumption of
validity - is forced to divert substantial funds to litigation that is wasteful
• * .As a consequence, prospective defendants will often decide that paying royalties under a license or other settlement is preferable to the costly
burden of challenging the patent.
The devestating impact of litigation on a small business was borne out
by the observations of members of the President's Commission on the
Patent System when it was recently considering proposals for changes in
the patent laws. In the Senate hearings, one member of the President's
Commission remarked:
The businessman can be subjected to considerable harrassment as an
alleged infringer. Even in cases where he feels strongly that the patent
would ultimately be held invalid, when he considers the hundreds of thousands of dollars in complex cases that could be involved in defending a
suit, he may conclude that the best course of action is to settle for less to
get rid of the problem. These nuisance settlements, although distasteful,
are often, under the present system, justified on pure economics . . .In
many instances the very survival of the small businessman may be at
stake. His costs of fully litigating a claim against him can seriously impair
his ability to stay in business."
It is no wonder, when one takes into account the toll litigation inevitably
takes on a small business, that the monopolist bent on stifling his competition seizes upon litigation as a means of achieving that illegal end.

II.

LAWFUL LITIGATION BECOMES UNLAWFUL ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDUCT IFIT
IS AN INTEGRAL PART OF AN ANTICOMPETITIVE PROGRAM TO MONOPOLIZE

The Supreme Court has repeatedly observed that "acts which in them8. 395 U.s. 653, 669 (1969).
9. 402 U.S. 313, 338 (1971).
10. Hearings on General Revision of the Patent Laws Before Subcommittee No. 3 of the
House Committee on the Judiciary, 90th Cong., 1st & 2d Sess. (1967-1968); Hearings on
Patent Law Revision Before the Subcommittee on Patents, Trademarks, and Copyrights of
the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, 90th Cong., 1st Sess. 103 (1967).
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selves are legal lose that character when they become constituent elements
of an unlawful scheme."'" In those cases where a series of separate acts are
part and parcel of a basic overall plan to monopolize the Supreme Court
stated:
[Pilaintiffs should be given the full benefit of their proof without highly
compartmentalizing the various factual components and wiping the slate
clean after scrutiny of each. . . The character and effect of a conspiracy
are not to be judged by dismembering it and viewing its separate parts,
but only by looking at it as a whole. [Citing cases] . . . and in a case

like the one before us, the duty of the jury was to look at the whole picture
and not merely at the individual figures in it.12
The attempt to monopolize provision of section 2'" of the Sherman Act
has been the subject of much discussion among legal scholars, but has
drawn scant attention from the Supreme Court. Mr. Justice Holmes enunciated what has become the classic
definition of an attempt to monopolize
14
in Swift & Co. v. United States:
Where acts are not sufficient in themselves to produce a result which the
law seeks to prevent, - for instance, the monopoly, - but require further
acts in addition to the mere forces of nature to bring that result to pass,
an intent to bring it to pass is necessary in order to produce a dangerous
probability that it will happen.

'rhe Supreme Court in its recent decision of Otter Tail Power Co. v.
United States 5 asserted that "use of monopoly power 'to destroy threatened competition' is a violation of the 'attempt to monopolize' clause of
Section 2 of the Sherman Act."
Essentially, the core of the attempt to monopolize offense is the perform11. Continental Ore Co. v. Union Carbide & Carbon Corp., 370 U.S. 690, 707 (1962); Swift
& Co. v. United States, 196 U.S. 375, 396 (1905). In American Tobacco Co. v. United States,
328 U.S. 781 (1946), the Supreme Court made the following observation:
It is not the form of the combination or the particular means used but the result to
be achieved that the [Sherman Act] concondemns. It is not of importance whether
the means used to accomplish the unlawful objectives are in themselves lawful or
unlawful. Acts done to give effect to the conspiracy may be in themselves wholly
innocent acts. Yet, if they are part of the sum of acts which are relied upon to
effectuate the conspiracy which the statute forbids, they come within its prohibition. Id. at 809.
12. 370 U.S. at 699.
13. Section 2 of the Sherman Act provides:
Every person who shall monopolize or attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other persons, to monopolize any part of the trade or commerce
among the several States or with foreign nations shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and, on conviction thereof, shall be punished by fines not exceeding
$50,000 or by imprisonment not exceeding one year, or by both said punishments,
in the discretion of the court. 15 U.S.C. §2 (1970).
14. 196 U.S. 375, 396 (1905).
15. 410 U.S. 366, 377 (1973).
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ance of some act with the specific intent to destroy actual or threatened
competition. In discerning that intent the Supreme Court has articulated
that the trier of fact must view the evidence in its cumulative impact
rather than examine each specific act independently, and has repeatedly
observed that acts which are legal in themselves may nonetheless become
illegal if part of an overall plan to eliminate competition. Although the
courts have struggled to formulate objective standards by which the specific intent requirement of the attempt to monopolize offense can be established, there is no way in which the myriad of analyses in this area can be
reconciled or used to arrive at an objective yardstick. In determining
subjective intent to monopolize, it is certainly appropriate, and indeed
mandatory, to carefully examine the specific practices under scrutiny and
to draw reasonable inferences therefrom. The standards by which subjective intent to exert monopoly power is judged remain loosely defined. Probably the most lucid expression in this area was by Judge Wyzanski in
6
Union Leader Corp. v. Newspapers of New England, Inc." where he
equated specific intent to monopolize with "misleading and immoral"
acts, and for his inquiry into whether a particular practice was "unfair"
and hence "not honestly industrial," an approach which has been criticized because it is allegedly incapable of objective determination.
Against this general background of the "attempt to monopolize" clause
of section 2 of the Sherman Act, we now turn to an analysis of those cases
which have condemned the use of litigation as a principal means of eliminating or suppressing competition.
A.

From Noerr To Otter Tail

The seminal case involving abuse of the adjudicatory process as an integral part of a program of monopoly is Eastern R.R. Presidents'Conference
v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc.," which stands as the magna carta for businessmen to lobby before state legislatures and governors to pass laws that
restrain their competition.
Noerr had its genesis in a factual context that reeked with deception,
malice, misrepresentation and outright fraud. A group of trucking companies sued twenty-four eastern railroads, their trade association and their
public relations firm, charging them with a conspiracy to restain trade and
monopolize the long distance freight hauling business in violation of sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act. The railroads had employed the "thirdparty technique," whereby propaganda, actually circulated in the railroads' interest by their public relations firm, was given the appearance of
being a spontaneous expression of the views of individuals and civic

16. 180 F. Supp. 125 (D. Mass. 1959), modified, 284 F.2d 582 (1st Cir. 1960), cert. denied,
365 U.S. 833 (1961).
17. See Hawk, supra note 4, at 1142-46.

18.

365 U.S. 127 (1961).

MERCER LAW REVIEW

[Vol. 26

groups. In reality, of course, these tactics were designed to influence the
adoption of certain laws that the railroads hoped would destroy the trucking business.
The railroads' campaign was ultimately successful and the governor of
Pennsylvania vetoed a bill which would have permitted truckers to haul
heavier loads over that state's highways.
In its unanimous opinion, authored by Justice Black, the United States
Supreme Court articulated a broad antitrust immunity cloaking concerted
political activity designed to influence the enactment of laws by a legislature, or the enforcement of laws by executive governmental agencies, with
protection from the scope of the antitrust laws. In essence, the Supreme
Court sanctioned conduct perpetrated under the guise of influencing governmental action, even though the avowed purpose of the campaign was
to eliminate competition.
Justice Black stated that "no violation of the Act can be predicated upon
mere attempts to influence the passage or enforcement of laws ....
9
Neither the fact that the techniques employed by the railroads deliberately
deceived public officials, nor the fact that the railroads' sole purpose and
motive in seeking the legislation was to destroy the truckers as competitors
rendered their campaign unlawful under the antitrust laws. Accepting the
district court's finding that the "sole purpose in seeking to influence the
passage and enforcement of laws was to destroy the truckers as competitors
for the long-distance freight business," 0 that fact was held not to "transform conduct otherwise lawful into a violation of the Sherman Act."',
Moreover, the Court observed, the knowing infliction of some direct but
incidental injury upon the truckers did not render illegal the publicity
campaign aimed at influencing legislation.2
Underlying the Noerr rationale was the premise that lobbying was such
a part of the democratic process, protected by the first amendment right
to petition, that nothing should hamper free and open access to governmental decision-makers by businessmen.
Inherent in this attempt to protect first amendment rights of access to
legislatures and administrative bodies, was the possibility of wholesale
abuse. What Justice Black perceived as "the true nature of the case-a 'no
holds-barred fight' between two industries both of which are seeking control of a profitable source of income, ' 3 might actually become an invitation to harrass vulnerable competitors into oblivion. With his usual vision,
Justice Black contemplated the prospect of such abuse by articulating the
so-called "sham exception":
19. Id. at 135.
20. Id. at 138.
21. Id.
22. In this regard, the Court held that, at least insofar as the railroads' campaign was
directed toward obtaining governmental action, its legality was not at all affected by any anticompetitive purpose it may have had. Id. at 140.
23. Id. at 144.
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There may be situations in which a publicity campaign, ostensibly directed toward influencing governmental action, is a mere sham to cover
what is actually nothing more than an attempt to interfere directly with
the business relationships of a competitor and the application of the Sherman Act would be justified. 4

In 1963, the Supreme Court did not even allude to the Noerr case in
United States v. Singer Manufacturing Co. 5 There, the Court found that
Singer and two of its European competitors had attempted to exclude
Japanese competition from the American market by means of crosslicensing agreements, patent assignments, patent infringement actions,
and proceedings instituted before the United States Tariff Commission,
designed to exclude all imported sewing machines which infringed the
patents accumulated by defendant.
The Supreme Court never even intimated that patent infringement litigation could not constitute an integral part of a Sherman Act violation.
Instead, the Court relied upon the various suits and proceedings instituted
before the United States Tariff Commission as evidence of the defendants'
overall plan to monopolize and eliminate Japanese competition, apparently placing such conduct outside any Noerr immunization.
Two years later, the Supreme Court extended the Noerr antiturst immunity in United Mine Workers of America v. Pennington.6 There, a small
bituminous coal operator filed a treble damage counterclaim alleging a
conspiracy between UMW and certain large coal operators to place onerous
24. Id. See also Continental Ore Co. v. Union Carbide & Carbon Corp., 370 U.S. 690
(1962), in which the Supreme Court refused to apply the Noerr immunity to concerted efforts
on the part of defendants designed to achieve a monopoly in the Canadian market and to
eliminate Continental Ore from such market by concerted activity with Electro-Metallurgical
Company of Canada which was acting as the sole Canadian importer of vanadium and as an
arm of the Canadian government.
Justice White distinguished Noerr on the ground that defendants
were engaged in private commercial activity, no element of which involved seeking
to procure the passage or enforcement of laws. To subject them to liability under
the Sherman Act for eliminating a competitor from the Canadian market by exercise of the discretionary power conferred upon Electro-Met of Canada by the Canadian Government would effectuate the purposes of the Sherman Act and would not
remotely infringe upon any of the constitutionally protected freedoms spoken of in
Noerr. Id. at 707-08.
The Court relied upon United States v. Sisal Sales Corp., 274 U.S. 268 (1927), where a
combination entered into within the United States to monopolize an article of commerce
produced abroad was held to violate the Sherman Act even though the defendants' control
of that production was aided by discriminatory legislation enacted by the foreign country,
Mexico, which established an official governmental agency as the sole and exclusive buyer
of the product from the producer and even though one of the defendants became the exclusive
selling agent for that governmental body. In short, the Sherman Act was violated even though
the conspirators' control of production was aided by persuading a foreign government to enact
discriminatory legislation.
25. 374 U.S. 174 (1963).
26. 381 U.S. 657 (1965).
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financial burdens on small, non-unionized coal mines, thus making them
unable to compete. The counterclaim alleged that as part of the conspiracy
the large coal mine owners had successfully induced the Secretary of Labor
to establish under the Walsh-Healy Act a minimum wage for employees
of contractors selling coal to the Tennessee Valley Authority. It was alleged
that the minimum wage was higher than in other industries, and made it
difficult for the small coal operators to compete in the TVA market under
term contracts.
In the relevant part of a lengthy opinion dealing with the exemption of
labor unions from the antitrust laws, the majority opinion of Justice White
declared:
"Noerr shields from the Sherman Act a concerted effort to influence public officials regardless of intent of purpose."" The Court concluded: Joint
efforts to influence public officials do not violate the antitrust laws even
though intended to eliminate competition. Such conduct is not illegal,
either standing alone or as part of a broader scheme itself violative of the
Sherman Act."0
During the next Supreme Court term, the Court for the second time had
occasion to consider the use of litigation in the context of a scheme to
achieve an illegal monopoly. In Walker Process Equipment, Inc. v. Food
Machinery & Chemical Corp.29 the United States Supreme Court, again
failing to mention the Noerr-Pennington doctrine, held that the maintenance and enforcement by means of patent infringement litigation of a
patent obtained by fraud on the Patent Office may form the basis of a
treble damage action under section 2 of the Sherman Act. The appellant
and the United States, which appeared as amicus curiae, had argued that
if a defendant obtained a patent by fraud and thereafter used the patent
to exclude a competitor from the market through "threats of suit" and
prosecution of a patent infringement action, such proof would establish a
prima facie violation of section 2 of the Sherman Act.30 The Supreme Court
went on to hold that in order to establish monopolization or attempt to
monopolize a part of trade or commerce under section 2 of the Sherman
Act, it would be necessary, in addition to proving intentional fraud, for the
plaintiff "to appraise the exclusionary power of the illegal patent claim in
terms of the relevant market for the product involved." 3' Without a definition of that market, the Court concluded, there was no way to measure the
32
defendants' ability to lessen or destroy competition.
Walker Process thus stands for the proposition that litigation as an
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.

Id. at 670.
Id.
382 U.S. 172 (1965).
Id. at 175.
Id. at 177.
Id.
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integral part of a scheme to monopolize may form the basis of a Sherman
Act claim where intentional fraud is perpetrated upon the Patent Office
and the other elements of a section 2 Sherman Act claim are satisfied, i.e.,
relevant market, power to exclude competition, the dominance of the patented device therein, the injurious consequences to the plaintiff by virtue
of the patent's enforcement through litigation, and, of course, damages.
Our evolutionary development in the Supreme Court led next to
California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited33 and Otter Tail.
In Trucking Unlimited, the district court 34 had summarily dismissed the
complaint on the ground that the alleged conduct was within the immunity
of the Noerr-Penningtondoctrine. The complaint, filed under section 4 of
the Clayton Act for injunctive relief and treble damages, was instituted by
14 plaintiffs engaged as highway trucking companies operating under certificates issued by the California Public Utilities Commission and the Interstate Commerce Commission. The complaint charged that 19 trucking
companies, likewise operating as competitors under the authority of the
PUC and ICC, were conspiring to monopolize commerce in the transportation of goods in interstate commerce in violation of sections 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Act.
It was alleged by the plaintiffs that the purpose of the conspiracy was
to put the plaintiffs and their competitors out of business, and to that end
the defendants agreed jointly to finance, carry out and publicize a systematic program of opposing, with or without probable cause and regardless
of the merits, virtually every application for additional operating rights or
for registration and transfer of operating rights before the PUC, the ICC,
and the courts. Pursuant to this conspiracy, it was alleged that the defendants: (1) appeared in all proceedings instituted by plaintiffs and opposed
all applications, transfers and registrations; (2) established a fund to finance the above activities by means of monthly contributions in amounts
proportionate to each defendant's gross income; and (3) publicized and
made known to plaintiffs and others the foregoing program.
It was also alleged that defendants jointly resisted rehearings, reviews
or appeals sought by plaintiffs or other competitors, and that as a result
the defendants depleted the resources of the plaintiffs and other competitors in resisting the defendants' conduct; that defendants had defeated
applications filed by plaintiffs on the basis of decisions which but for the
conspiracy would not have been adversely rendered if the agencies and
courts had not been deprived of the full benefit of all the facts and information available.
In short, plaintiffs alleged that the power, strategy and resources of
defendants were used to harass and deter plaintiffs in their use of administrative and judicial proceedings, so as to deny them "free and unlimited"
access to those tribunals.
33.
34.

404 U.S. 508 (1972).
1967 Trade Cas. 72,298 (N.D. Cal.).
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The Ninth Circuit" reversed the lower court, holding that concerted
employment of judicial and administrative adjudicative processes as part
of a scheme to restrain trade, as alleged in the complaint, was not immunized by the Noerr-Penningtondoctrine. In addition, the court held that
even if the Noerr-Penningtonrule applied to the use of judicial and administrative adjudicative processes in a scheme to restrain trade, relief was not
barred if, as alleged in the complaint, the real purpose of defendants' joint
activity was to restrain competitors directly, rather than to restrain them
indirectly by inducing restrictive governmental action.
Consequently, the Ninth Circuit applied the general rule, i.e., the Sherman Act is violated by a conspiracy to unreasonably restrain or monopolize
trade through the use of judicial and administrative adjudicative proceedings. Relying upon Walker Process, Singer Manufacturing Co., as well as
Kobe, Inc. v. Dempsey Pump Co.,31 and Lynch v. Magnavox Co., 31 the
Ninth Circuit held:
At the very least, these decisions demonstrate that agreements to use
litigation as a means to restrain trade are not 'essentially dissimilar,' in
the Noerr sense from those traditionally condemned under the Sherman
3
Act. 1
In striking the balance between conflicting public policies, the Ninth
Circuit observed:
They [the foregoing cases] also support the proposition that, on balance, the public interest in free competition served by the condemnation
of agreements to use judicial and administrative adjudicative processes for
the purpose of restraining trade outweighs the resulting restraint upon
First Amendment rights. 39
The court distinguished the Noerr-Penningtondefense by asserting that
that doctrine was concerned with protecting joint efforts to influence governmental action as such, and that it did not bar relief when a conspiracy
to employ judicial and adjudicative processes in a scheme to restrain trade
is alleged.
The critical statement by the Ninth Circuit, for purposes of this discussion, was as follows: "The significance of the cases cited is . . .[that]
they demonstrate that litigation can be an integral part of a scheme pro'40
hibited by the Sherman Act.
The Supreme Court' affirmed the Ninth Circuit and, in an opinion
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.

432 F.2d 755 (9th Cir. 1970).
198 F.2d 416, 424-25 (10th Cir. 1952).
94 F.2d 883 (9th Cir. 1938).
Id. at 759 n.6.
Id.
Id. at 760.

41. 404 U.S. 508 (1972).
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authored by Justice Douglas, held that although the right of petition afforded by the first amendment protects the right of access to the courts,
on its face the allegations of plaintiffs' complaint came within the "sham"
exception articulated in Noerr.
The majority opinion of Justice Douglas underscored the balancing of
the first amendment right to petition against the prohibitions of the antitrust laws when there is abuse of the adjudicatory processes resulting in
the blocking of competitors from access to administrative agencies and the
courts. To that extent, the majority opinion contracted the scope of the
Noerr-Pennington antitrust immunity, as applied to adjudication before
administrative agencies and courts, as contrasted with petitioning the legislative and executive enforcement branches of the government.
The majority opinion in Trucking Unlimited distinguished the sweeping
Noerr-Penningtonimmunity in the political arena from its applicability to
adjudicatory tribunals. Abuses of the adjudicatory processes should not be
condoned under the guise of freedom of political expression. There is a
fundamental difference between the give and take of the legislative process, or the permissible range of petitioning the executive enforcement
officials, and procedures prescribed for the orderly and impartial resolution
of adversary adjudicatory proceedings before the courts. The majority rejected the argument that pressure group tactics aimed at informing legislators or government enforcement officials should have the same unlimited
scope before the courts.
The essence of Justice Douglas's opinion was expressed as follows:
Misrepresentations, condoned in the political arena, are not immunized
when used in the adjudicatory process. Opponents before agencies or
courts often think poorly of the other's tactics, motions, or defenses and
may readily call them baseless. One claim, which a court or agency may
think baseless, may go unnoticed; but a pattern of baseless, repetitive
claims may emerge which leads the fact-finder to conclude that the administrative and judicial processes have been abused. That may be a
difficult line to discern and draw. But once it is drawn, the cases establish
that abuse of those processes produce an illegal result, viz., effectively
barring respondents from access to the agencies and courts. Insofar as the
administrative or judicial processes are involved, actions of that kind
cannot acquire immunity by seeking refuge under the umbrella of "political expression." 2
Justice Douglas concluded:
It is well settled that First Amendment rights are not immunized from
regulation when they are used as an integral part of conduct which violates
a valid statute . .. If the end result is unlawful, it matters not that the
means used in violation may be lawful. 3
42.
43.

Id. at 513.
Id. at 514-15.
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Finally, we reach the watershed decision in this area of the law, Otter
Tail. There, the Antitrust Division attacked the preservation of a monopoly by the Otter Tail Power Co. alleging that as part and parcel of its plan
to monopolize, Otter Tail sponsored, encouraged, and financially supported court litigation intended to impede and frustrate attempts by competitors to establish independent municipal electric power systems. Specifically, it was charged that Otter Tail either instituted or sponsored and
financially supported court litigation which had the effect of frustrating
the sale of revenue bonds to finance the municipal systems competitors
sought to establish. A "no-litigation certificate," reflecting the absence of
litigation which might impair the rating and saleability of revenue bonds,
was essential to a successful sale of such bonds. The pendency of litigation,
it was charged, had the effect of preventing the marketing of the necessary
bonds, thus preventing the establishment of a competing municipal system.
The district court"4 found that most of the litigation sponsored by the
Otter Tail Co. was carried to the highest available appellate court, and,
that although all of it was unsuccessful on the merits, the institution and
maintenance of such litigation had the effect of halting, or appreciably
slowing, efforts for municipal ownership. The delay thus occasioned and
the large financial burden imposed on the towns' limited treasury dampened local enthusiasm for public ownership. The district court held:
While every person has the right to resort to the courts to redress
claimed wrongs, the right is not without limitation. One who enjoys a
monopoly may not resort to litigation for the purpose of illegally maintaining the monopoly. The Ninth Circuit has observed that'. . . litigation can
be an integral part of a scheme prohibited by the Sherman Act.'
[Omitting citation] This legal principle is well established and has been
expressed in patent cases particularly in connection with the institution
of infringement suits. [Omitting citations] The court finds that the litigation sponsored by defendant was instituted for the purpose of delaying
and preventing the establishment of municipal electric systems with the
expectation that this would preserve its predominant position in the sale
5
and transmission of electric power in the area.4
The district court rejected the defendant's assertion that the Noerr doctrine exempted its conduct in the field of court litigation from antitrust
attack:
But the Noerr principle is applicable only to efforts aimed at influencing
the legislative and executive branches of the government. It only immunizes political activity directed toward the enactment and enforcement of
the laws from antitrust attack. . . . Noerr does not free from antitrust
sanctions the instituttion of court litigation."
44.
45.

United States v. Otter Tail Power Co., 331 F. Supp. 54 (D. Minn. 1971).
Id. at 62.

46. Id.
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The district court held that Otter Tail had attempted to monopolize in
violations of section 2 of the Sherman Act by using its dominant position
in the wholesale power market to foreclose the entry of municipalities as
competitors in the retail market in part by the institution of the foregoing
series of lawsuits designed to deplete the resources of competing municipalities and subvert their prospect of securing financing which would enable them to become viable competitive entities.
On direct appeal to the Supreme Court, the lower court's decision was
affirmed in part and vacated and remanded in part. The remand flowed
from the district court's finding as to the oppressive use of litigation, which
the Supreme Court vacated and remanded for consideration in light of its
intervening decision in Trucking Unlimited. In this connection, the Supreme Court reaffirmed its holding in that case, observing that
the principle of Noerr [meaning the sham exception] may also apply to
the use of administrative or judicial processes where the purpose is to
supress competition evidenced by repetitive lawsuits carrying the hallmark of insubstantial7 claims and thus within the 'mere sham' exception
announced in Noerr.'
On remand, after reconsideration, the district court reached the same
conclusion as it had previously reached, finding that
the repetitive use of litigation by Otter Tail was timed and designed
principally to prevent the establishment of municipal electric systems and
thereby to preserve defendant's monopoly. I find the litigation comes
within the sham exception to the Noerr doctrine as defined by the Supreme Court in California Transport . . .
The United States Supreme Court affirmed the foregoing judgment, per
4
curiam, on May 28, 1974. 1
B.

Lower Court Treatment Of Litigation As An Integral Part Of A Program To Achieve Or Preserve An Illegal Monopoly

Long before the Supreme Court put its imprimatur upon litigation as a
tool to achieve or preserve monopoly power, lower courts had recognized
that litigation was a potent weapon possessed by a monopolist seeking to
eliminate its competition.
The Ninth Circuit has been in the forefront of this recognition in a series
of cases, in addition to its opinion in Trucking Unlimited.
The first of these was Lynch v. Magnavox Co.50 where the Ninth Circuit
47.

410 U.S. at 380.

48.
49.
50.

United States v. Otter Tail Power Co., 360 F. Supp. 451, 452 (D. Minn. 1973).
Otter Tail Power Co. v. United States, 417 U.S. 901 (1974).
94 F.2d 883 (9th Cir. 1938).
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reversed a lower court dismissal of a complaint which alleged a broad
conspiracy to monopolize under section 2 of the Sherman Act. As an integral part of the plan, it was alleged, that defendants, each of which possessed patents or patent rights, pooled these rights, extended cross-licenses
to each other, and threatened to institute patent litigation against purchasers of competitive radio receiving sets and loudspeakers; that under
threat of patent litigation, defendants sought to force other manufacturers
to acquire a license under the alleged patents; and that by a campaign of
intimidation and harassment of customers of these competitors and by the
successive institution, in various geographic areas, of patent infringement
suits against key accounts, customers and retail outlets of equipment manufactured by competing entities, defendants violated section 2 of the Sherman Act. Simultaneously, in other areas additional patent infringement
suits were instituted. The complaint went on to allege that approximately
sixteen suits were filed in the Southern District of New York, that thirteen
suits against retail outlets were filed in the Eastern District of New York,
while Magnavox itself filed twenty-six similar suits against the same retail
outlets alleging infringement of a different patent. It was finally alleged
that the foregoing infringement suits were not instituted in good faith, but
were instead overt acts committed in order to effectuate the program of
monopoly.
1
Relying upon the leading cases of Standard Oil Co. v. United States,"
5
Swift & Co. v. United States, United States v. Reading Co.,53 and United
States v. Patten, ' the Ninth Circuit, accepting the allegations as true for
purposes of the appeal, found that since there was an unlawful purpose
alleged, to wit, a violation of section 2 of the Sherman Act, the fact that
the means contemplated and used were in themselves lawful did not relieve the defendants of being responsible for their illegal scheme:
We may assume that each of those acts would be lawful, and still a
conspiracy might be shown. If the agreement has an unlawful purpose, it
is a conspiracy, notwithstanding that the means used to carry it out were
lawful. 5
In 1963, the Ninth Circuit again had occasion to consider this subject
matter in Mach-Tronics Inc. v. Zirpoli56 The issue arose upon a petition
for writ of mandamus from a district court order staying the prosecution
of a federal antitrust claim "until completion of all proceedings in the trial
court" of an action pending between the parties in a California state court.
On June 8, 1962, Ampex Corporation sued Mach-Tronics and eight of its
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.

221 U.S. 1 (1911).
196 U.S. 375, 396
196 U.S. 324, 357
226 U.S. 525, 544
94 F.2d at 889.
316 F.2d 820 (9th

(1905).
(1905).
(1913).
Cir. 1963).

LITIGATION & ILLEGAL MONOPOLY

19751

officers in the California state court alleging theft of trade secrets. The suit
sought to enjoin Mach-Tronics from selling any of its video tape recorders
which were alleged to be based upon Ampex's secret know-how. Two
months later, Mach-Tronics filed a suit in the federal court in San Francisco under sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act against Ampex alleging,
inter alia, that on or about May 1, 1962, Mach-Tronics had developed a
low cost closed circuit video tape recorder which threatened the monopoly
position of Ampex (and its co-conspirator, RCA). The infliction of damage
alleged by Mach-Tronics in the antitrust case was predicated almost entirely upon the pendency of the state court litigation instituted by Ampex,
which Mach-Tronics contended contained charges "falsely alleging that
plaintiff Mach-Tronics had appropriated defendant's research and ideas
The Mach-Tronics antitrust complaint went on to allege that
".

[t]he said litigation was brought to harass plaintiff, to force it to make
substantial litigation expenditures, to divert it from the business of manufacturing and selling its MVR-10, and to force it into bankruptcy. In
addition thereto, defendant has contacted plaintiff's potential customers
and suppliers, falsely represented that the courts had decided the foregoing litigation in favor of defendant, and threatened them with economic
reprisals if they dealt with plaintiff, again with the intent of forcing plaintiff into bankruptcy. All of this has been done by defendant and RCA to
preserve their monopoly position pursuant to the conspiracy herein alleged.5"
As in Lynch v. Magnavox, Mach-Tronics characterized the prior litigation against it as "baseless." 5 The trial court had decided that plaintiff's
antitrust complaint rested upon a showing that the prior state court litigation was indeed "baseless," and that this could be resolved only after the
state court action had actually been tried. Accordingly, the district court
entered an order staying the prosecution of the federal antitrust case until
after trial of the state court action.
The Ninth Circuit, in a review by way of writ of mandamus, issued an
order directing that the stay be vacated and that the federal antitrust suit
proceed forthwith. In so doing, the Ninth Circuit observed:
We do not see any way in which the respondent could avoid coming to
grips with the contention made in the treble damage complaint that the
action was brought in the state court for the purpose of giving effect to
Ampex's unlawful monopolistic scheme. Even if it were to be found that
Mach-Tronics and its employees have been guilty of stealing the secrets
and processes of Ampex, that would not avoid or otherwise dispose of
Mach-Tronics treble damage case, if the latter succeeds in establishing
these allegations of its complaint.
57.
58.
59.

Id. at 822.
Id. at 820 n.15a.
Id. at 837 (dissenting opinion).
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In this respect, the case is very similar to Kobe, Inc. v. Dempsey Pump
Co., 10 Cir., 198 F.2d 416. In that case, the court found that Kobe was
the owner of certain patents, some of which were valid and infringed by
Dempsey whom it had sued for infringement. However, the court held that
Kobe was guilty of unlawful monopolization under the Sherman Act and
awarded Dempsey treble damages. Kobe had long been in the business of
manufacturing pumps and had acquired patents relating to such pumps.
Later Dempsey began to produce hydraulic pumps and Kobe learned that
Dempsey was receiving requests for information concerning its pump.
Kobe notified Dempsey of its claim of infringement by Dempsey and
demanded that Dempsey discontinue its activities. A letter from Kobe
went to the pump equipment customers stating: 'It is our obligation to
inform you of this pending infringement action.' As a result of the suit and
the notices, the activities of Dempsey were almost at a standstill. The
court affirmed the trial court's conclusion that Kobe had carried on its
business in violation of the provisions of the Sherman Act which would
prevent Kobe's recovery for infringement of their patents and make them
liable for the damages resulting from such violation .... "Substantially
the same issue is present in petitioner's complaint in the respondent court
and we think that the court cannot avoid a decision.of that issue, no
matter what the state court's decision may turn out to be."60
Kobe, Inc. v. Dempsey Pump Co. ,"' upon which the Ninth Circuit relied,
held that even the grant of a legal patent right did not give the patent
holder a license to misuse such rights in the marketplace so as to eliminate
a competitor. The court held that even where a patent infringement action
is not instituted in bad faith and even where the patent holder believes
that some of its patents were indeed infringed, if repetitive suits are instituted against the competitor for the purpose of eliminating him as a competitor and enhancing the existing monopoly power possessed by the defendant, the plaintiff may recover damages for the defendant's conduct in
violation of section 2 of the Sherman Act.
The court in Kobe observed:
It is said that to allow recovery of damages resulting from the infringement action would be a denial of free access to the courts. We fully recognize that free and unrestricted access to the courts should not be denied
or imperiled in any manner. At the same time we must not permit the
courts to be a vehicle for maintaining and carrying out an unlawful monopoly which has for its purpose the elimination and prevention of competition."2
The court of appeals upheld the trial court's finding that although the
defendant did not institute the patent infringement action in bad faith,
but instead believed that some of its patents were indeed infringed, since
60. Id. at 830-31.
61. 198 F.2d 416 (10th Cir. 1952).
62. Id. at 424.
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Kobe intended to secure a judgment which would eliminate Dempsey as a
competitor and to remain in exclusive possession of the entire market for
deep well hydraulic pumps for oil wells, the infringement action and other
activities engaged in by Kobe were intended and designed to further the
existing monopolistic purposes of defendant. The court of appeals observed
in this regard as follows:
We have no doubt that if there was nothing more than the bringing of
the infringement action, resulting damages could not be recovered, but
that is not the case. The facts as hereinbefore detailed are sufficient to
support a finding that although Kobe believed some of its patents were
infringed, the real purpose of the infringement action and the incidental
activities of Kobe's representatives was to further the existing monopoly
and to eliminate Dempsey as a competitor. The infringement action and
the related activities, of course, in themselves were not unlawful, and
standing alone would not be sufficient to sustain a claim for damages
which they may have caused, but when considered with the entire monopolistic scheme which preceded them we think, as the trial court did, that
they may be considered as having been done to give effect to the unlawful
scheme ...
The result of Kobe's infringement action, its verbal and written statements to the trade, was disastrous to the defendants. There was almost a
complete boycott of their products. To hold that there was no liability for
damages caused by this conduct, though lawful in itself, would permit a
monopolizer to smother every potential competitor with litigation before
it had an opportunity to be otherwise
caught in its tentacles and leave the
3
competitor without a remedy .

Three years after Mach-Tronics, in 1966, the Ninth Circuit, in Plastic
Contact Lens Co. v. George H. Butterfield, 4 reiterated these principles as
follows:
We recognize that a series of lawsuits, wrongfully instituted for oppressive purpose, may constitute the basis for a just charge of unfair competitive activity. See Callman, Unfair Competition and Trademarks 8.1d, P.
139 (2d ed. 1950). .

.

.Here, however, the evidence is insufficient to sup-

port Butterfield's contention for the application of that rule.
Finally, on February 25, 1974, the Ninth Circuit in Rodgers v. FTC5
again had occasion to discuss these principles. The court stated that attempts to misuse administrative and judicial processes in order to further
primarily anti-competitive objectives would fall within the "sham" exception of Noerr as interpreted by the Supreme Court in Trucking Unlimited.
The "sham" exception applies, the court concluded, "where the activity
complained about is a mere screen for what in fact is an attempt to inter63. Id. at 425.
64. 366 F.2d 338, 346 (9th Cir. 1966).
65. 492 F.2d 228 (9th Cir. 1974).
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fere with the business relationships of a competitor.""
The court went on to find no violation under the circumstances because
the allegedly unethical conduct occurred solely within the "political
arena" and not within an administrative or judicial context, and because
the evidence did not establish that the defendants "had acted primarily
to attain anti-competitive goals or that their actions had resulted in an
abuse of the initiative proceedings." 67
Courts located in other circuits have also viewed litigation as a tool that
could be used by monopolists to bludgeon their competition.
For example, in Prelin Industries, Inc. v. G & G Crafts, Inc.,"8 Judge
Chandler concluded, based on the evidence before him, that
[aifter acquiring the Schwalge patent with unclean hands and unethical
intentions, the Plaintiff brought the present suit for the purpose of destroying the Defendants' business, and concurrently, and without waiting
for an outcome to the present suit, asserted that patent against all of the
Defendants' known jobber-distributors, and even against some of the
Plaintiff's own distributors whom the Plaintiff merely suspected of having
been in communication with Defendant ....
This course of conduct, the court concluded, clearly violated the provisions of sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act, holding that such conduct
clearly fell within that proscribed by the Tenth Circuit in Kobe.
The court concluded that
for as clearly as could be established by any facts, the facts here prove that
the Plaintiff in this case has violated all the rules of equity, and acquired
the Schwalge patent as a part of an unlawful and monopolistic scheme
which had for its purpose the elimination and prevention of competition."
It has also been held that a treble damage claim may be premised upon
the threatening of the institution of suits for alleged patent infringement,
as well as upon the actual commencement and pendency of such litigation.
For example, the court in Darden v. Besser,7° relying in part upon a prior
government action7 wherein the Antitrust Division had been successful in
proving that the defendant had promulgated numerous letters where it
recklessly made threats of suit, found that the defendant expressed concern about Darden as a competitor and not merely as a patent infringer.
In addition to the proposed infringement suits, the defendants, in their
correspondence, discussed as further moves against Darden publicity
about the infringement action and publicity to the effect that only Sterns
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.

Id. at 231.
Id. at 232 n.3.
357 F. Supp. 52, 70 (W.D. Okla. 1972).
Id.
147 F. Supp. 376 (E.D. Mich. 1956), rev'd in part, 257 F.2d 285 (6th Cir. 1958).

71.

United States v. Besser Mfg. Co., 96 F. Supp. 304 (E.D. Mich. 1951).

19751

LITIGATION & ILLEGAL MONOPOLY

and Besser Co. were licensed under the relevant patents, coupled with a
warning against infringement of these patents by others.
Suits were actually instituted against customers of Darden alleging infringement of the patents, while two of the defendants shared the expense
of prosecuting this litigation. The plaintiff instituted an unfair competition
action against the defendant following which the defendant called on the
president of the company that made machines for Darden informing him
of the patent infringement suit threat and advising that they should discontinue supplying Darden with materials that were claimed to infringe
their patents until the controversy was settled. Darden, in the absence of
a source of supply for machines, was not capable of financing the defense
of the patent infringement suit instituted in New Jersey or the prosecution
of the unfair competition suit commenced in Illinois. The court concluded
that Darden had been threatened with immediate destruction of its business and with financial ruin unless its established source of machines could
be maintained, and that, facing this dilemma, it decided that there was
nothing it could do except to settle the matter on the most favorable terms
possible. Consequently, the plaintiff entered into license agreements with
the defendant, the court concluded, in return for which it agreed to withdraw its unfair competition action. Under the circumstances, the court
found that the defendants had violated the antitrust laws.
A similar situation was presented to the court in United States v.
Krasnov,"1 where the Antitrust Division alleged that the defendants had
embarked on a plan whereby they had threatened to institute, and actually
did institute, patent infringement suits against retail dealers selling slip
covers of their competitors, alleging the sale of merchandise had infringed
their patent, and that following the institution of such suits the defendants
endeavored to settle with the defendants whom they had sued by requiring
the retailers to discontinue the sale of the alleged infringing slip covers and
substitute slip covers manufactured by them. Based on this scheme, a
horde of lawsuits were filed against retailers demanding, as a condition
for settlement, only the discontinuance of the sale of their competitors'
goods. The court found that the defendants took full advantage of the
almost universal aversion of a retailer to patent litigation, and that the
infringement suits were brought for the purpose of having the retailer
discontinue a competitor's line and adopt theirs. In fact, ten suits were
instituted against retailers without the validity of the patent in question
ever being adjudicated. In addition, four suits were instituted directly
against manufacturers. The court concluded that the lawsuits were calculated to and did extend their dominion in the slip cover field and held that
the agreements reached by defendants tended to eliminate competition,
was an unreasonable restraint on trade, and a violation of the Sherman
Act.
72.

143 F. Supp. 184 (E.D. Pa. 1956).
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In Stewart-Warner Corp. v. Staley,7 3 a pleading matter, plaintiff alleged
that defendant had accumulated and bought up practically all the patents
in the lubricating-equipment business, not for the purpose of marketing
the devices covered by the patents but for the purpose of intimidating and
overwhelming the trade into dealing only with the plaintiff. The complaint
also charged the plaintiff with bringing unwarranted patent suits. The
court held that although it was true that plaintiff had a legal right to bring
suits on patents owned by it for alleged infringement, where, as alleged in
the counterclaim, such suits were brought without probable cause, that
was an element to be considered in connection with the allegation that the
plaintiff had violated the antitrust laws.
Judge Hastie held, in Forgett v. Scharf,74 that a suit commenced in
equity against the plaintiff wherein the defendant obtained ex parte an
injunction restraining the plaintiff from the manufacture and sale of his
machine could form the basis of a claim for treble damages under the
antitrust laws. The plaintiff alleged that defendant acted in bad faith,
maliciously and without probable cause in obtaining the injunction which
was ultimately won by the antitrust-plaintiff. Judge Hastie concluded that
the complaint alleged a plan to suppress competition and to monopolize,
to wit, that plaintiff was engaged in a business in the early stages of
development where it was the first company in the field as a manufacturer
of a new device and that defendants, contemplating entry into this specific
new business, conspired to eliminate the only pre-existing enterprise in the
field and to appropriate the entire business to themselves exclusively.
This, Judge Hastie held, was forbidden by the Sherman Act.
Master Metal Strip Service, Inc. v. Protex Weather Strip Manufacturing
Co.7 5 involved an antitrust action where the lower court, upheld on appeal,
concluded that in bringing a patent infringement action, the defendant
had attempted to maintain an illegal monopoly in restraint of trade in an
unpatented article of commerce, namely, a metal weather strip sash balance device and, in so doing, violated the antitrust laws.
Finally, in Automated Building Components, Inc. v. Trueline Truss
Co. 76 the court found that section 1 of the Sherman Act had been violated
where a patent infringement suit had been instituted without giving notice
that the patent in question had been issued and where the suit was filed
even though the antitrust defendant knew that the principal claims of the
basic patent (another patent) had been declared invalid, and that the
patent involved in the patent infringement suit instituted against the antitrust plaintiff would probably be held invalid if its validity was contested.
The court found that the defendant had not and did not intend to manufacture the patented item and had not given any franchisee a license to
73.
74.
75.
76.

42 F. Supp. 140 (W.D. Pa. 1941).
181 F.2d 754 (3d Cir. 1950).
169 F.2d 700 (7th Cir. 1948).
318 F. Supp. 1252 (D. Ore. 1970).
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manufacture it. The court found that the antitrust defendants conspired
to harass the plaintiff and to force plaintiff out of the truss manufacturing
business in violation of the antitrust laws.
Sherman Act cases are not the only examples of judicial recognition that
litigation may be used as a means of stifling competition. In L. G. Balfour
Co. v. FTC77 the Seventh Circuit upheld findings that a jewelry firm had
helped to organize an interfraternity council for the purpose of threatening
competitors with litigation, actually instituting such litigation, and petitioning the Federal Trade Commission importuning such agency to institute proceedings against one of its competitors. The court found that such
activities constituted an unfair trade practice in violation of section 5 of
the Federal Trade Commission Act and that the bringing of litigation was
part of Balfour's efforts to monopolize trade and commerce under the
Federal Trade Commission Act, as well as under the Sherman Act.
III.

TYPES OF CONDUCT HELD TO BE "SHAM"

The Supreme Court in Trucking Unlimited delineated a number of different kinds of conduct or behavior upon which an antitrust claim could
be predicated for abusing the adjudicatory process: Perjury of witnesses
was one example;"8 use of a patent obtained by fraud to exclude a competitor from the market was another example;" bribery of a public purchasing
agent also was held to give rise to an antitrust violation. 0 Justice Douglas
added another example, i.e., that of a conspiracy with a licensing authority
to eliminate a competitor."
Justice Stewart, in his concurring opinion in Trucking Unlimited, added
misrepresentation of fact or of law as a potential abuse before an adjudicatory tribunal.82
Finally, the court, in Clinton Engines Corp. v. Briggs & Stratton Corp. ,1
recognized that "activities indulged in for the purpose of seeking to patent
something known by the applicant to be invalid and as a part of a scheme
to create an illegal monopoly or restrain trade" would give rise to an antitrust claim.
77. 442 F.2d 1, 16 (7th Cir. 1971).
78. 404 U.S. at 512.
79. Id. at 513, relying upon Walker Process Equip., Inc. v. Food Mach. & Chem. Corp.,
382 U.S. 172, 175-77 (1965).
80. Id. at 513, relying upon Rangen, Inc. v. Sterling Nelson & Sons, 351 F.2d 851 (9th Cir.
1965).
81. Id. at 513, relying upon Continental Ore Co. v. Union Carbide & Carbon Corp., 370
U.S. 690, 707 (1962); Harman v. Valley Nat'l Bank, 339 F.2d 564 (9th Cir. 1964).
82. Id. at 517.
83. 175 F. Supp. 390 (E.D. Mich. 1959), relying upon Kellogg Co. v. National Biscuit Co.,
71 F.2d 662, 666 (2d Cir. 1934), where the court held: "While it doubtless would not be within
the Antitrust Acts to bring a suit to assert a patent or trademark right whatever the motive,
if the claim was valid, an attempt to assert a known invalid claim would be a different
matter."

MERCER LAW REVIEW

[Vol. 26

The two opinions rendered in Trucking Unlimited were in agreement
that "intent" or "purpose" was the critical element in resolving the question of fact whether the conduct was within the "sham" exception to the
Noerr-Penningtondoctrine.
Justice Stewart stated it this way:
[Tihe respondents are entitled to prove that the real intent of the conspirators was not to invoke the processes of the administrative agencies
and courts, but to discourage and-ultimately to prevent the respondents
from invoking those processes. Such an intent would make the conspiracy
"an attempt to interfere directly with the business relationships of a competitor and the application of the Sherman Act would be justified.",
In short, the resolution of the crucial question of intent or purpose will
enable the trier of fact to interpret all of the facts in their full context in
order to evaluate the probable effects of the totality of the defendant's
conduct upon the business of the plaintiff.
The antitrust attorney is faced with the major task of attempting to
evaluate how a court will resolve this crucial question of intent, just as the
court itself may have difficulty in arriving at findings of fact on that issue.
However, there should be no undue difficulty in identifying the types of
conduct set forth above as abuses of the administrative and adjudicatory
procedures.
IV.

MAY ONE CLAIM, AS CONTRASTED WITH A

SERIES OF LAWSUITS, FORM THE

BASIS OF A TREBLE DAMAGE ACTION?

One question raised by Trucking Unlimited is whether a single sham or
fraudulent attempt to invoke governmental action or block access to the
courts is sufficient for antitrust liability, or must the defendant engage in
a series or pattern of such activity. Justice Douglas stated in Trucking
Unlimited that
one claim, which a court or agency may think baseless, may go unnoticed;
but a pattern of baseless, repetitive claims may emerge which leads the
factfinder to conclude that the administrative and judicial processes have
been abused.
In Otter Tail, the court, in a one sentence summarization of the Trucking
Unlimited holding, also expressed the repetitive nature of the defendants'
lawsuits."6
However, in cases previous87 and subsequent 8 to Trucking Unlimited,
84.
85.

404 U.S. at 518 (emphasis in the original).
Id. at 513.

86.

410 U.S. at 380.

87.
88.

Hecht v. Pro-Football, Inc., 444 F.2d 931 (D.C. Cir. 1971).
Aloha Airlines, Inc. v. Hawaiian Airlines, Inc., 349 F. Supp. 1064 (D. Hawaii 1972).
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liability has been imposed where the efforts in question appeared to form
something less than a pattern or repetitive series. This pattern requirement may have been necessary in the narrow context of the Trucking
Unlimited decision only because by a pattern of conduct could access to
the courts be denied and although the pattern requirement was repeated
in Otter Tail without mention of denial of access, the factual context of
that case was not one of denial of access but rather of severe harassment.
Nevertheless, a single lawsuit may just as effectively place a cloud over
a company as a series of actions. One lawsuit may be just as devastating
in its impact as a single action, and may be just as capable of achieving
the desired competitive advantage. Therefore, requiring a series of claims
is an unnecessary and unwarranted requirement. Where the requisite anticompetitive motive and intent is established, there is no reason to require
more than a single use of the litigative process in pursuit of such purpose.
V.

Is CONCERTED ACTIVITY REQUIRED OR MAY A SINGLE FIRM UTILIZE LITIGATION IN VIOLATION OF THE ANTITRUST LAWS?

The frequent reference to concerted conduct by competitors in the
Trucking Unlimited opinion left open an inference that similar conduct by
an individual competitor might not give rise to antitrust liability.
If such a distinction were intended by the Court, any doubts were laid
to rest in its Otter Tail opinion, for this case involved court actions instituted by a single privately owned power company. As noted above, the
Court found that Otter Tail's litigation campaign amounted to an unlawful
maintenance of monopoly power under section 2 of the Sherman Act, disposing of the company's assertion of immunity under Noerr by reasoning
that Noerr did not protect adjudicatory activity.
Consequently, Otter Tail stands for the proposition that a single defendant may incur antitrust liability under section 2 of the Sherman Act if it
alone misuses adjudicatory processes, since Noerr and Trucking Unlimited
are logically as applicable to individual attempts to influence adjudicatory
decisions as to concerted attempts to do so.
A single firm which has a monopolistic or dominant position in an industry should be as accountable for abuse of administrative or court processes
as a combination of competitors who collectively possess similar market
power. On the crucial question of intent, the market power of the single
defendant should be regarded as only one factor in resolving such question.
Illegal intent to abuse the adjudicatory process should not turn on mere
business size or oligopoly market structure in the relevant market affected
by the proceeding instituted. Rather, all of the facts and circumstances
including the defendant's predatory conduct and behavior should be taken
into consideration in resolving this issue.

MERCER LAW REVIEW
VI.

MUST THE LITIGATION BE "BASELESS"

[Vol. 26

IN ORDER FOR ITS PENDENCY TO

GIVE RISE TO AN ANTITRUST CLAIM?

Kobe, Mach-Tronics, and PrelinIndustriesall established the legal principle that even if the litigation giving rise to the antitrust suit was actually
meritorious, such conduct, if a part of an illegal scheme to violate the
antitrust laws, is itself illegal. In other words, even meritorious litigation
can be instituted for the purpose of destroying competition.

In short, a baseless claim filed either in court or before an administrative
agency will constitute an attempt "to interfere directly with the business
relationships of a competitor," i.e., within the "sham" exception to the
Noerr doctrine. If, on the other hand, the action or lawsuit is not totally
baseless or brought in bad faith, the antitrust plaintiff may still prove, by
the totality of the facts and circumstances, that the institution of the
litigation was part of an attempt by the defendant to either achieve or
preserve monopoly power and instituted for the sole purpose of eliminating
competition and interfering directly with the business relationships of a

competitor.
Consequently, the fact that the lawsuit is "baseless" is merely a matter
of evidentiary significance. Proof that it is baseless forecloses further inquiry. Proof that it may have had some legal basis or merit suggests only
that more extensive factual inquiry is necessary in order to ascertain or
discern the true purpose or intent for which the litigation was commenced.
In other words, the inquiry is not whether the suit is "baseless" or "meritorious," but, rather, what was the objective sought to be achieved by the
institution of the litigation in question.
VII.

MAY THE ANTITRUST PLAINTIFF RECOVER AS PART OF HIS DAMAGES THE

LEGAL EXPENSES INCURRED IN DEFENDING THE LITIGATION UPON WHICH HIS
CLAIM IS PREMISED?

We finally turn to the question of damages. The leading case on this
important subject is Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc.8
There, Zenith's antitrust claim, asserted as a counterclaim in a patent

infringement action instituted by Hazeltine Research, was based in part
upon the conduct of the Canadian Patent Pool, made up largely of Canadian manufacturers, which was formed for the purpose of protecting the
manufacturing members and licensees thereof from competition by American and other foreign companies seeking to export their products into
Canada. The Patent Pool's efforts to prevent importation of radio and
television sets from the United States was highly organized and extremely
effective. Agents, investigators, and manufacturer and distributor trade
associations systematically policed the market; warning notices and advertisements advised distributors, dealers, and even consumers against selling
89.

395 U.S. 100 (1969).
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or using unlicensed equipment. Most importantly, for purposes of this
discussion, patent infringement suits or threats thereof were regularly and
effectively employed in order to dissuade dealers from handling Americanmade sets.
The computation of damages, prepared by Zenith experts and accepted
by the district court, attempted to draw a comparison between Zenith's
percentage share of the United States' television market, ranging from
15.6% in 1959 to 21.7% in 1963, and Zenith's actual share of the Canadian
market during the same period, ranging from 3.1% in 1959 to 5.2% in 1961
down to 3.2% in 1963. Damages were awarded by the trial court for Zenith's
lost market share on the assumption that Zenith, absent the conspiracy,
would have obtained 16% of the Canadian television market throughout
the relevant damage period, rather than its actual 3% share of such market. The Supreme Court found that there existed sufficient evidence from
which the trial court could find that the Patent Pool had effectively prevented Zenith from achieving a larger share of the market, and that Zenith, therefore, had sustained damages during the damage period by virtue
of having achieved a smaller share of the market than it would have otherwise had if the Pool had never existed.
In this regard, the Supreme Court observed:
Trial and appellate courts alike must also observe the practical limits
of the burden of proof which may be demanded of a treble-damage plaintiff who seeks recovery for injuries from a partial or total exclusion from a
market; damage issues in these cases are rarely susceptible of the kind of
concrete, detailed proof of injury which is available in other contexts. The
Court has repeatedly held that in the absence of more precise proof, the
factfinder may "conclude as a matter of just and reasonable inference
from the proof of defendants' wrongful acts and their tendency to injure
plaintiffs' business, and from the evidence of the decline in prices, profits
and values, not shown to be attributable to other causes, that defendants'
wrongful acts had caused damage to the plaintiffs."' 0
As has been demonstrated above, treble damages may be recovered by
an injured plaintiff where litigation is an integral part of a conspiracy or
plan to restrain trade or to monopolize."
The question then arises as to what, in addition to lost profits or lost
going concern value, may be recovered by an antitrust plaintiff. There
exists a well recognized and established line of cases holding that the
expenses, including attorney's fees, of defending a patent infringement suit
brought as part of an illegal attempt to monopolize and to restrain trade
are properly assessible damages in an antitrust action for such attempt to
monopolize. In short, these cases hold that a plaintiff's expenses incurred
in defending a patent infringement suit brought as part of and in further90.
91.

Id. at 123.
See, e.g., Bendix Corp. v. Balax, Inc., 471 F.2d 149, 159 (7th Cir. 1972).
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ance of a combination or conspiracy in restraint of trade or as an integral
part of a plan to monopolize are a proper subject of treble damage recovery
and are properly includible as damages in an antitrust action.
The first court that so held was Kobe.92 Thereafter, the court in Clapper
v. Original Tractor Cab Co.9" relying on Kobe, held that "defendants are
entitled to have their reasonable attorney's fees and expenses included as
an element of damages in the antitrust action."
Again, in Dairy Foods, Inc. v. Dairy Maid Products Corp.," relying on
Kobe and Clapper, the court ruled that
where an infringement suit is brought as part of and in furtherance of a
combination and conspiracy which violates the antitrust laws and results
in injury such as is here alleged the person injured may recover threefold
the damages he sustains . . .and each of these cases is authority for the
recovery of threefold the cost and expense on defending such an infringement suit.
The court in American Infra-Red Radiant Co. v. Lambert Industries,
Inc., 5citing Clapper, Kobe, and Dairy Foods, acknowledged the foregoing
line of cases holding that patent litigation expenses may be considered in
antitrust counterclaims where an infringement suit is brought as part of
and in furtherance of a combination and conspiracy, but also recognized
that at least two other cases stood for the proposition that no patent litigation expense may be recovered as treble damages in an antitrust counterclaim for the reason that allowance of such recovery would inhibit free
9
resort to the courts. 6
The Eighth Circuit did not reach a definitive decision one way or the
other, declining to rule'whether it believed that there had been a violation
of the antitrust laws, basing its decision solely upon the trial court's finding
that no damages had been inflicted upon the counterclaimant and, thus,
siding with neither line of authority relevant to this discussion.
However, the following year the court in Hazeltine Research, Inc. v.
Zenith Radio Corp.," relying upon that circuit's decision in Dairy Foods,
held that "Zenith's expenses in defending the infringement suit brought
92.

97 F. Supp. 342, 353 (N.D. Okla. 1951), where the district court held:
The expenditure for attorney's fees by the defendant Dempsey Pump Company to
defend the infringement action and the action for unfair competition . . . is recoverable by the defendant Dempsey Pump Company as damages sustained by
reason of an act prohibited by the antitrust laws.
Such award of attorney's fees are part of the antitrust damages was not contested on appeal.
See Kobe, Inc. v. Dempsey Pump Co., 198 F.2d 416, 426 (10th Cir. 1952).
93. 270 F.2d 616 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 361 U.S. 967 (1959).
94. 297 F.2d 805 (7th Cir. 1961).
95. 360 F.2d 977, 996 (8th Cir. 1966).
96. According to the court, the leading case taking this approach is Straus v. Victor
Talking Mach. Co., 297 F. 791 (2d Cir. 1924), which was cited with approval by Malta Mfg.
Co. v. Osten, 215 F. Supp. 114 (E.D. Mich. 1963).
97. 388 F.2d 25, 35 (7th Cir. 1967).
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pursuant to HRI's antitrust violations are a proper subject of threefold
recovery." The Supreme Court did not disturb this conclusion.98
District courts have tended to rely on the Kobe line of cases. For example, Judge Curtis in Dart Industries, Inc. v. Liquid Nitrogen Processing
Corp. of California" ruled, on May 14, 1970, that "[alttorney's fees and
expenses incurred in a patent infringement suit, which is prosecuted for a
violation of the antitrust statutes, are properly includible as damages in
an antitrust action," relying on Clapper.
Again, on July 28, 1972, in Acme PrecisionProducts, Inc. v. American
Alloys Corp., 00 Judge Collinson stated:
The simple answer to this is that the expenses, including attorneys fees,
of defending an infringement suit brought as part of an illegal attempt to
monopolize and to restrain trade are properly assessable damages in an
antitrust action for such attempt to monopolize.
Finally, in Western Dairy Products,Inc., v. Griffith Laboratories,Inc.,01
Judge Wollenberg held, on September 1, 1972, that
[tihere is an important difference between a good-faith attempt to enforce a patent, on the one hand, and use of an infringement suit as an overt
act in a conspiracy to violate the antitrust laws on the other. In the latter,
expenses of defending the suit are a proper element of damages under the
Clayton Act.
Although the principle articulated in the foregoing line of cases arose in
the context of patent litigation, there is no reason why it should be so
confined and no rationale exists precluding its application to non-patent
situations such as those presented in Mach-Tronics, Otter Tail, or
Trucking Unlimited.
In each of the nonpatent litigation situations, the plaintiff was just as
damaged in his business or property as were the antitrust plaintiffs in the
patent litigation. Indeed, a plaintiff enjoined by a predatorily motivated
injunction obtained ex parte or foreclosed from access to an administrative
agency, or the subject of a malicious unfair competition or trademark
action, suffers by having his financial resources depleted (by the expenditures of attorney's fees incurred in defending such litigation) just as the
defendant in a spurious patent infringement suit.
98. See Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100 (1969).
99. 165 U.S.P.Q. 618 (C.D. Cal. 1970).
100. 347 F. Supp. 376, 379 (W.D. Mo. 1972). The court concluded: "It is axiomatic that
those fees which were incurred in defense of the infringement suit will be tripled as damages
in the antitrust action." Id. On appeal, the Eighth Circuit stated in a footnote: "We deem it
inconsequential that the district court made the trebled award under Section 15 of the
Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15, rather than allowing only single damages under 35 U.S.C. §285."
Acme Precision Products, Inc. v. American Alloys Corp., 484 F.2d 1237, 1239 n.2 (8th Cir.
1973).
101. 175 U.S.P.Q. 680 (N.D. Cal. 1972). See also Kearney & Trecker Corp. v. Cincinnati
Milacron, Inc., 1974 Trade Cas. 75,438 (S.D. Ohio).
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It is strongly urged that the judiciary apply the Kobe rationale to other
types of litigation which form an integral part of an unlawful scheme to
either achieve or preserve monopoly power.

